ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COW TTEE ON O L AND GAS
January 26, 2006
5:08 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Vic Kohring, Chair
Representative Lesil MCQiire
Represent ati ve Ral ph Sanuel s
Representative David Cuttenberg

VEMBERS ABSENT

Represent ati ve Nor man Rokeber g
Representati ve Nancy Dahl strom
Representative Berta Gardner

OTHER MEMBERS PRESENT
Representative Kurt O son
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 294

"An Act anending and extending the exploration and devel opnent
incentive tax credit under the Al aska Net Income Tax Act for
operators and working interest owners directly engaged in the
exploration for and devel opnent of gas for delivery and sale
from a lease or property in the state; providing for an
effective date by anending the effective date for sec. 2, ch.
61, SLA 2003; and providing for an effective date."

- HEARD AND HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 294

SHORT TI TLE: GAS EXPLORATI ON\ DEVELOPMENT TAX CREDI T
SPONSCR( S) : REPRESENTATI VE(S) CHENAULT

04/ 30/ 05 (H READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
04/ 30/ 05 (H) &G, RES, FIN
01/ 26/ 06 (H 08G AT 5:00 PM CAPI TOL 124

W TNESS REG STER

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -1- January 26, 2006



SUE WRI GHT, Staff

to Representative M ke Chenault

House Finance Conmittee

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Provi ded the background on HB 294 on behal f
of Representative Chenault, the sponsor.

JOHN A. BARNES, Manager

Al aska Producti on Region

Mar at hon G | Conpany

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 294.

JERRY M CUTCHEON
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified that HB 294 will not acconplish a
| ot, and suggested an alternative.

MARK GRABER, | ncone Audit Manager

Anchorage O fice

Tax Division

Depart ment of Revenue (DOR)

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: During discussion of HB 294, answered
guestions and di scussed the acconpanying fiscal note.

CHERYL L. NIENHU S, Petrol eum Econom st

Tax Division

Juneau O fice

Depart ment of Revenue (DOR)

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Di scussed the acconpanying fiscal note for
HB 294, and testified that from an econom c standpoint, the
price of gas is alnpbst as nuch of an incentive as a tax credit.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR VIC KOHRI NG cal l ed the House Special Conmmittee on Ol and
Gas neeting to order at 5:08:47 PM Represent ati ves Kohring,
McGuire, Samuels, and Guttenberg were present at the call to
order. Also in attendance was Representative O son.

HB 294- GAS EXPLCRATI ON\ DEVELOPMENT TAX CREDI T

CHAI R KOHRI NG announced that the only order of business would be
HOUSE BILL NO 294, "An Act anending and extending the
exploration and developnent incentive tax credit under the

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -2- January 26, 2006



Al aska Net Inconme Tax Act for operators and working interest
owners directly engaged in the exploration for and devel opnent
of gas for delivery and sale from a |ease or property in the
state; providing for an effective date by anending the effective
date for sec. 2, ch. 61, SLA 2003; and providing for an
effective date."

5:09:16 PM

SUE WRI GHT, Staff to Representative M ke Chenault, House Finance
Commttee, Alaska State Legislature, sponsor, explained on
behal f of Representative Chenault, that HB 294 is an act that
anends and extends the exploration and devel opnent incentive tax
credit that was originally enacted in 2003 as House Bill 61.
This tax credit continues to apply under the Al aska Net |ncone
Tax Act for operators and working interest owners directly
engaged in the exploration for and devel opnent of natural gas,
primarily in the Cook Inlet area. She informed the comittee
that any natural gas production and supply in the Cook Inlet
area has been declining for a nunber of years. During that sane
time, demand has been increasing steadily. Therefore, a sharp
increase in drilling to find new reserves is drastically needed.
She stated that the original investnent tax credit enacted in
2003, while nodestly successful in stimulating new drilling and
devel opnent, needs to be made a nmuch nore effective incentive in
order for developers to increase capital spending in a large
manner. These changes will go a long way toward achi eving that
goal, and it wll also increase enploynent.

5:10: 55 PM

JOHN A. BARNES, Manager, Al aska Production Region, Mrathon Ol
Conmpany, stated that Marathon G| Conpany is in support of HB
294. He infornmed the commttee that Marathon Q1 Conpany's
Al aska operations are focused on the Cook Inlet natural gas
i ndustry. Last year [in 2005], Marathon G| Conpany produced
and sold about 68 billion cubic feet (bcf) of natural gas. He
said that during [2005], Marat hon O | Conmpany sold to
"essentially" every natural gas market that was avail abl e. The
mar ket s i ncl ude: ENSTAR Natural Gas Conpany, Chugach Electric
Association, Inc., a liquefied natural gas (LNG plant in
Ni ki ski, Tesoro [Corporation], and Agrium Inc. He stated that
the Marathon O 1 Conpany is commtted to the Cook Inlet natural
gas nmarket, including serving its Jlong-term contractual
commtnments to the local utilities and seeking other available
opportunities.

HOUSE C&G COW TTEE - 3- January 26, 2006



MR. BARNES rem nded the comrittee that in 2003, the |Ilegislature
passed and the governor signed, several bills that were directed
at providing incentives for new exploration and devel opnent
activities. Marathon G| Conpany was particularly interested in
House Bill 61, which was intended to incentivize exploration and
devel opment of natural gas reserves, specifically in Cook Inlet.
He stated that HB 294 will strengthen the incentives.

5:12: 46 PM

MR. BARNES said that one m ght ask about the need to incentivize
natural gas developnent in Cook Inlet. The answer to the
guestion is found by considering the Jlong-term decline in
natural gas reserves, which Cook Inlet has experienced. He

stated that what nust be addressed is whether there is currently
sufficient exploration activity to arrest the decline in
reserves, and not whether the Cook Inlet is running out of gas.
At the current mninmal |evel of Cook Inlet exploration, it's
unlikely that Cook Inlet reserve additions will replace annua
production on an ongoi ng basis. As such, natural gas reserves
are at risk of continual decline in Cook Inlet. He infornmed the
conmttee that the net result of not addressing the issue wll
be the loss of industries and associ ated jobs.

5:13:36 PM

MR. BARNES stated that the lack of Cook Inlet exploration is an
artifact of the historic oversupply of natural gas, which kept

prices well below Lower 48 prices, which created a |ack of
incentive for drilling. Furthernore, regulatory and permtting
hurdles in Alaska have played roles in reducing project
econoni es, due to uncertainties and predictably bringing
projects online on time and within the budget. He announced
that there is, however, good news. Recently, the US

Department of Energy conpleted a report, which identified
significant potential in Cook Inlet for additional gas through
infield reserve growm h, new discoveries, and other gas sources.

5:14: 23 PM

VR. BARNES infornmed the <conmittee that the same report
identifies the need for significant capital expenditures to
bring the gas to market, including $500 million associated with
finding and developing infield reserve gromh of 1.4 trillion
cubic feet (tcf). An expenditure of $5 billion to $6 billion
was associated with exploration and devel opnent of 6 tcf to 8.5
tcf of resource.

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -4- January 26, 2006



5:14:59 PM

MR. BARNES stated that the [aforenentioned] targets represent a
significant opportunity to reinvigorate the Cook Inlet natura
gas industry. The net result of developing the reserves would
be additional jobs, ongoing industrial use of natural gas, and
revenue increases to the State of Alaska through tax and
royal ties.

5:15: 24 PM

MR. BARNES posed the question: how will HB 294 hel p? He stated
that Al aska projects are not considered solely on their absolute
econonmic nerit. Conpani es are scrutinized on a relative scale

in conparison to other opportunities around the world where
people can invest. The intent of HB 294 is to level the playing
field between Alaska opportunities and other opportunities
around the world. He added that HB 294 is intended to provide
an incentive to oil and gas devel opnent activities through an
investnment tax credit. Most inportantly, under HB 294, the
percentage of qualified expenditures that could be applied as a
credit to offset future tax liabilities is increased from 10 to
25 percent.

5:16: 22 PM

MR. BARNES added that timng is "very inportant” on Cook Inlet
devel opnent . It currently takes an excess of three years to
bring any potential Cook Inlet discovery to production. If a
sufficiently high |evel of exploration activity can Dbe
sti nul at ed, there's an increased probability that somne
di scoveries may be brought to nmarket sooner, which ultimtely
wi ||l benefit industries and consuners.

5:16:49 PM

MR. BARNES summarized that Marathon Q| Conpany believes that HB
294 can serve as a stimulus to enhance Cook Inlet exploration
and devel opnment activities.

5:17: 00 PM

CHAI R KOHRI NG opined that the legislation that the |legislature
passed in 2003 benefited the industry, including Mrathon Gl
Conmpany, and inquired as to what the justification is for
generously increasing the tax credits as well as taking out the

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -5- January 26, 2006



50 percent limtation. He also asked, "Wiy would that be needed
inlight of the fact that [House Bill 61] has been successful ?"

5:17:31 PM

MR. BARNES responded that the key word is that [House Bill 61]
has been "noderately" successful. |f one |ooks at the overall
| evel of activity in Cook Inlet, he opined that [House Bill 61]
hasn't drawn the type of exploration that would ultimtely
benefit the State of Al aska. He added that another thing to

consider is the nultiplier effect. For exanple, if a conpany
receives $1 mllion in tax credit, that inplies it has spent $10
mllion in Alaska ultimately finding and devel opi ng natural gas.

Then one woul d al so have to think about the devel opnent cost and
what the ultinate revenue to the State of Al aska would be, which
is dependent on oil price. He stated that through severance
tax, royalty, and ad valorem tax, the multiplier benefit to the
State of Alaska is probably on the order of the investnent that
the conpany nakes. The key point is that for every $1 of
credit, $10 was spent in Al aska, making an inportant
contribution to Al aska conmerce.

5:19: 02 PM

CHAI R KOHRI NG noted that noney has al so been generated which is
in the state treasury. He said that his understanding is that
there's about $1.5 million, and that for every dollar that is in
the state treasury, the industry is spending about ten tines
t hat . Therefore, he opined that there has been a benefit from
[ House Bill 61]. He expressed his concern that the legislature
doesn't go "too far" in ternms of extending "already generous"”

provisions, and added that the reasons for extensions are
adequately justified.

MR. BARNES expressed his understanding of the need for the State
of Alaska to determ ne the amount of stimulus it deens required
to increase activity.

5:19: 53 PM

REPRESENTATI VE MCGUI RE descri bed another "incentive bill" heard
by the House Rules Standing Commttee. She opined that she's
leery of elimnating the 50 percent requirenent entirely. She

al so expressed her concern regarding extending [the sunset date]
to 2024, and said that she doesn't see any justification for it.
She opined that a periodic checkpoint is necessary. Therefore
she inquired about the reasoni ng behind the sunset date of 2024.

HOUSE C&G COW TTEE - 6- January 26, 2006



5:23:19 PM

MR. BARNES explained that if the "tool" works, one wants to try
to get to the point where there is an "ongoing span profile" of
Cook Inlet. He opined that having a sunset date of 2020 or 2024
offers a stable picture of a reward that could be there for
ongoi ng investnent. He informed the conmttee that currently,
Cook Inlet burns between 150-200 bcf of gas per year. |If one is
able to find and replace reserves at $1 per thousand cubic feet
(mef), it would inmply that one has a $200-nmillion-per-year
capital program occurring in Cook Inlet. In order to keep that
| evel of activity going, one has to create an environnment that
draws the capital in. He said that he doesn't know whet her Cook
Inlet will ever achieve the degree of sustainability that's
required.

5:26:39 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG commented that a tax credit of up to
100 percent would allow operators to execute devel opnent
exploration without risk.

5:27:49 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SAMJELS asked for exanples of other tax and
royalty systenms around the world that the Marathon Q1 Conpany
deal s wi th.

5:28:21 PM

VR. BARNES nentioned production-sharing agreenents, whi ch
typically occur when there's a higher probability of the
resource base. He also nentioned typical royalty and severance
tax approaches. The U.S. governnent has inplenented royalty
reduction in an attenpt to stinulate deepwater exploration. He
said that Alaska is one of the few states [in the U S.] that has
i npl enented royalty reduction as an incentive in the oil and gas
i ndustry.

5:30: 26 PM

JERRY McCUTCHEON opined that [HB 294] will not acconplish a |ot.
He suggested that a nmethod to spur gas production would be to
start taxing |leases on which seismic information has not been
collected and/or drilling has not occurred. He al so suggested
that if an operator is not drilling on a |ease, he/she should

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -7- January 26, 2006



| et another operator take over the lease to begin drilling. His
notto is, "drill it or lose it."

5:32: 09 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SAMUELS, referring to page two of [HB 294] and
line five and line eleven, inquired about the 25 percent for
qualified services in the state and asked whether it's an
operating tax credit al so.

MARK GRABER, Incone Audit WMnager, Anchorage Ofice, Tax
Di vision, Departnment of Revenue (DOR), said no, and that it's
for capital expenditures only; therefore, operating expenditures
woul dn't qualify.

5:32: 51 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SAMJELS quoted page 2, lines 4-6, of HB 294 which
read, "10 percent of the annual cost incurred by the taxpayer
for qualified services in the state during each tax year for
which a credit is allowable for a qualified capital investnment”
and asked what a qualified service would be.

MR. GRABER said that he can't answer Representative Sanuels
guestion precisely. He added that the DOR has not performed any

audits on the credits that have been clai ned. He conveyed his
understanding that a "qualified service" pertains to seismc
work and to the types of things that wll eventually get

capitalized, as opposed to capital assets that are purchased.
5:34:10 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SAMUELS clarified that on page three, there is a
definition of "qualified capital investnment”, but there isn't a
definition of "qualified service."

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG inquired as to whether there's a
definition of "qualified service" in [Al aska Statutes].

CHAI R KOHRI NG asked whether he would be correct in saying that
M. Gaber "wasn't aware" of what "qualified service" neant.

MR. GRABER confirmed "not precisely."” He added that the first

credit showed up in 2004, and the DOR "really" hasn't had tine
to audit it yet.

HOUSE C&G COW TTEE - 8- January 26, 2006



CHAIR KOHRING requested that the DOR identify "qualified
service" in [Al aska Statute].

5:34:57 PM

CHAI R KOHRI NG inquired about the nunber of tines since [House
Bill 61] was enacted, that the credit has actually been taken
advant age of, and by which conpanies other than the Marathon Q|
Conpany.

MR. GRABER acknow edged that there are two conpanies that have
"taken" the credit.

5:35:54 PM

CHAI R KOHRI NG asked whether it appears as though [House Bill 61]
has been effective in ternms of conpanies having interest in it
and taki ng advantage of it.

MR. GRABER said that he wasn't able to answer Chair Kohring's
guesti on.

5:37:12 PM

CHAIR KOHRING indicated that [HB 294] mght be held over in
order to address sonme of the concerns of nenbers. He expressed
his support of the concept behind [HB 294], and of the conmttee
doi ng sonet hi ng to accel erate addi ti onal devel opnent,
particularly in the Kenai Peninsula. He opined that House Bil
61 facilitated additional developnent, and that the commttee
should be able to "tweak" [existing statute] in order to attract
nor e conpani es and therefore, nore investnent.

5:38: 32 PM

CHAI R KOHRI NG expressed an additional concern that mght result
in having to add a provision to [HB 294] if necessary, and
[ Legi sl ative Legal and Research Services] would be able to nake
the decision. He said his concern is in regard to the potenti al
gas line, "spurs," and any gas-related infrastructure, since he
doesn't feel they should be included in HB 294. He opined that
the State of Alaska doesn't want to be "too generous"” to
conpanies that build the gas line, with the credit increased to
25 percent. To "narrow down" [HB 294], he said his suggested
wording would be, "The provisions of this act do not apply to
cost and revenue associ at ed W th gas pi pel i nes and

HOUSE C&G COW TTEE -9- January 26, 2006



infrastructure. ™ He added that the Marathon GO Conpany seens
anenabl e to his suggestion.

5:39:38 PM

MR. BARNES said that his initial thought is whether there are
concerns regarding a North Slope gas line or spur line. The
intent of [HB 294] is for exploration and devel opnent of new
gas, south of the Brooks Range. He added that at a high |evel
pass, there's a possibility that a gas line or spur line would
be excluded, because gas from the North Slope is produced north
of the Brooks Range. He said, "You're right, there may be a
need to tweak and make certain there's not a gap there in the
wor di ng. "

5:40: 27 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SAMJELS asked whet her [HB 294] specifies
geographi c | ocati on.

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG answered, "68th parallel."
5:40: 52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SAMUJELS asked if the DOR has conducted any
econoni ¢ nodeling to establish how nmuch [noney] would have to be
spent and how nmuch [gas] would have to be found, to nake [the
gas line] worthwhile. He added, "Not counting the inpact on the
econony, but the inpact on the state treasury."

5:41: 28 PM

MR. GRABER defined "qualified services" as, "Expenditures for
| abor, seismc, and other services that are directly applicable
to a qualified capital investnent." He added that "qualified
servi ces" does not include operating | ease expenses.

5:42:11 PM

CHAI R KOHRI NG requested that M. G aber discuss the acconpanying
fiscal note.

5:42:28 PM
MR. CRABER explained that [HB 294] retains the followng

characteristics: only exploration and devel opnent outlays for
gas wells qualify for the credit; the credit may be applied

HOUSE C&G COW TTEE - 10- January 26, 2006



agai nst the taxpayers total income tax liability - the credit
may offset tax arising from oil production and pipeline
activity, as well as gas exploration and production; unused
credits may be carried forward to the subsequent five years; and
once gas production begins, additional outlays for the field
cease to accrue credits. On the other hand, he explained that
[HB 294] mekes four significant changes to current |[|aw
increases the anount of the credit to 25 percent [from 10
percent] of the amount of qualified capital investnent and
qualified services spending; renoves the 50 percent limtation
on the anount of credits that can apply in a single year;
removes the "successful efforts" requirenent that devel opers
must find and deliver new gas resources to market to qualify for
the credit; and extends the sunset date of the investnment tax
credit fromJanuary 1, 2013, to January 1, 2020.

5:44: 32 PM

MR. GRABER inforned the commttee that in the two years since
the enactnment [of House Bill 61], the DOR has seen clains of
[$]6.3 million. He added, "That relates to three fields."

5:44: 47 PM

MR. GRABER stated that the rest of the fiscal note is
essentially an econom c anal ysis that he did not prepare.

5:45:19 PM

CHERYL L. NENHU S, Petroleum Econom st, Tax Division, Juneau
O fice, Departnment of Revenue (DOR), informed the conmttee that
sonme of the language in [HB 294 reflects |anguage in existing
statute]. She said that from an econom c standpoint, the price
of gas is alnmbst as nuch of an incentive as a tax credit.
Therefore, as long as the price of gas remains high, it should
be a good incentive in addition to a tax credit.

5:46: 02 PM
CHAIR KOHRI NG, upon determning that no one else wshed to

testify on HB 294, announced the closure of public testinony.
He noted that the conmttee is holding [HB 294] in order to

address the "50-50 split," the extension [of the sunset date],
the definition of "qualified services,” and the concern of gas-
related infrastructure. He reiterated his support of the

concept behind [HB 294].

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -11- January 26, 2006



5:47:10 PM
ADJ QURNVENT
There being no further business before the conmttee, the House

Special Commttee on G| and Gas neeting was adjourned at 5:47
p. m

HOUSE O&G COW TTEE -12- January 26, 2006



